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THE POST-OFFICE.

IN THE EARLY DAYS.

By EDWARD C. O. HOWARD.

As it may be interesting to say some- thing about the early history of the Melbourne Post-office, I will begin with the year 1835, when letters were first taken charge of by John Batman, at his residence, Batman's Hill, his brother being the next to look after them till the end of the following year. Then the duties were undertaken by a Mr. Foster. At that time the Post-office was in a bark hut in Collins street, about opposite where Scott's

Hotel now stands.

In 1837 Captain Benjamin Baxter took charge, and carried on the business in a mere shanty, rented from John P. Fawkner, in Flinders street, a little below King street. He had been stationed at Sydney, and when his regiment received orders to proceed to India he preferred, for the sake of the health of his wife and daughter, to remain in Australia. He, therefore, had nothing to do until Governor Bourke gave him the combined positions of postmaster and clerk of petty sessions at Port Phillip, with a salary of £200 a year. For the year 1838 the postal business must have been on a limited scale, for the revenue amounted to the small sum of £150. In March, 1839, Captain Baxter resigned to take up land and strike out for himself, and Mr. Skene Craig, merchant, although not very keen for the job, was prevailed upon by the New South Wales Government to take charge until an official ar-rived from Sydney. The post-office business was accordingly transferred to his store in Collins street west, the spot being now occupied by the Rialto building.

Mr. Craig had been in the settlement some time, having arrived in the brig Stirlingshire in 1836 to manage the commissarial department, pending the arrival of my father, Commissary Howard, of the Imperial army. By the same vessel came a survey staff, consisting of Robert Russell in charge, Frederick R. D'Arcy, and W. Darke. Mr. Robert S. Webb, chief officer of Customs, was also a passenger.

The press at the time expressed great pleasure at Mr. Skene Craig's appointment by saying that no other person in the town could give equal satisfaction. A month after he published the first list of unclaimed letters, then about 300 in number. During his term of office the letters were well looked after, but the newspapers, principally English, did not receive the same attention, although as a rule they generally reached their destination in course of time. Mr. Craig, how- ever, did not hold the office very long, the remuneration of £50 a year not being commensurate with the work that had to be done with an increasing population. The first permanent post-master appointed by the Government of New South Wales in 1839 was Mr. David Kelsh, his habitation being in a brick house situated a little westward of the present Temple court, in Chancery lane, on the opposite side. In July of the same year Messrs. Hawdon and Mundy set out with the first overland mails to Adelaide in a gig drawn by two horses in tandem style, and the settlers turned out in numbers to witness their departure. They were 27 days on the journey, averaging 20 miles a day through unexplored country.

In February 1841, the site for the post-office building, at the corner of Bourke and Elizabeth streets, was fixed, and on August 12 of the same year the business was transferred to a small brick structure erected thereon. The same building, with sundry additions from time to time, did duty until it was pulled down to make way for the vast pile of to-day. In front of it was fixed the first town clock, which was most unsatisfactory. It was placed under the care of Mr. Greening, a watchmaker, then in Chancery lane, close to William street, who experienced much trouble and worry in keeping it true to time. It was, however, subsequently replaced by a time-piece of a more reliable character specially imported from England, and fixed in a small dome erected for the purpose. Mr. Kelsh did not seem to get on well with the public, and the newspaper part of the business went from bad to worse. A sys-tem was inaugurated for delivery by employing a private letter-carrier, charging one penny for each letter, and, of course, most of the residents objected to this. How-ever, in the same year an increase was made to the establishment of a letter carrier at £30 a year. The appearance of this functionary in his gay scarlet coat and gold-laced hat created quite a sensation in the town, and from his easy mode of travelling he soon obtained the sobriquet of the scarlet creeper.

In the middle of 1841 the Duke of Northumberland brought the first regular mail which had ever come to Port Phillip from England direct, the number of boxes being more than one cart could convey from the beach. Prior to that letters and newspapers from England, sent by post, always came by way of Sydney. The overland mail to Sydney took three weeks, and as the same conveyance brought the replies six weeks formed the interval of correspondence. Early in 1842 Sir George Gipps paid a visit to Melbourne, and, whether from reports or from his own observation, was not satisfied with the state of affairs, and, accordingly, sent an officer from headquarters to report. The officer was Mr. Henry Dar-ling Kempt, who was in August of that year appointed chief postmaster with a salary of £350 a year. Mr. Kemp was, indeed, said to be the right man in the right place, gentlemanly and considerate, pains-taking and conscientious, and the public soon learnt to place confidence in the ad-ministration of the department. Kelsh himself was partly paid by salary (a small one) and partly by commission. At any rate, he seemed to thrive on his income. He drove, a capital pair of ponies, quite a feature of the settlement, and when he retired purchased a property near Penola, 

on the South Australian border. He was afterwards spoken of as a well-to-do man. In 1848 Mr. Kemp was superannuated, and succeeded by Captain McCrae, formerly of the 84th Regiment of foot, who received the title of Postmaster-General, which he retained until responsible government was established in 1855, when he retired from active service.

The conveyance of mails involved a heavy annual expenditure, carried on as it was under so many difficulties, no bridges, no roads worthy the name, and in the early days dangers from blacks and bush-rangers, for mail robberies were of frequent occurrence. In the summer months the mails were carried in a species of dog-cart, with a pair of horses, one in the shafts and the other in an outrigger, but in the winter on a pack-horse. It frequently happened in the latter season that the mails would come in saturated with water owing to the flooded state of the country, making it difficult at times to de-cipher the addresses. The English mails suffered from quite an opposite reason. Envelopes had not come into use. The usual way to fasten letters was either with wafers or wax, the latter being apparently the favourite with most in the Old Country. The English letters were tied up in parcels of about 50. These parcels were lightly placed in boxes, and on reaching their destination, on being opened, each parcel would have the appearance of a solid block of paper. The heat on the voyage had caused the sealing wax to melt, which made it a tedious and difficult task to separate the letters. In January, 1850, postage stamps came first into use, and in this connection there was an amusing bungle, for the supplies were non-adhesive, so that a letter could not be stamped with-out sealing wax, gum, glue, paste, or some other equivalent. The trouble caused by the adhesion of letters on the voyage from England was nothing compared to the tasks set the officials when the contents of a "robbed" mail reached the head office, for all such were brought to Melbourne. It was difficult to tell where to commence. In fact, it was utterly impossible to deal with scores of letters. The most serious case occurred in April, 1850, when the Melbourne mail to Sydney was stuck up a short distance across the Murray. Being nearer Melbourne than Sydney, the "re-mains," which consisted of a large number of English letters, were brought back. From the opening of the settlement up to the end of 1852, these robberies were of frequent occurrence, but in 1850 and 1851 there was quite an epidemic. No mail route in the colony escaped, the "operators" in one instance trying it on a few miles beyond the Saltwater River. The attempt, however, was not successful.

